5

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY

Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002553

RECEIVED

JUN 12 2019

SC Court of Appeals

The State,Respondent,

v.

Tommy Lee Benton,Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

R. Walker Humphrey, II
WILLOUGHBY & HOEFER, P.A.
133 River Landing Drive, Suite 200
Charleston, South Carolina 29492
(843) 619-4426

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender
**SOUTH CAROLINA COMMISSION
ON INDIGENT DEFENSE**
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 734-1330

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court violate Mr. Benton's protection against Double Jeopardy by retrying his case after granting a mistrial on the ground that Mr. Benton did not provide formal written notice of his alibi defense, where he was not required to disclose that information because the State did not first identify in writing the time he allegedly committed the offenses, the trial court inadequately considered whether alternatives to a mistrial existed, and the trial court failed to exercise sound discretion in finding manifest necessity for a mistrial?
- II. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by admitting into evidence text and internet messages allegedly sent or received by Mr. Benton and Mr. Cheatham where there was no evidence these individuals actually sent or received them and where Mr. Benton did not have exclusive possession of his cell phone?
- III. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by admitting into evidence unduly prejudicial and gruesome crime scene photographs that had no probative value where Mr. Benton only put forth an alibi defense, he did not challenge the facts or circumstances of the underlying crimes, and the photographs were not necessary to prove any fact in issue?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mitchell Cheatham, Douglas Thomas, and Garland Rose confessed to the murder of C.B. Smith, the burglary of his home and store, and the burning of his home and store in April 2014. Appellant Tommy Lee Benton was indicted for Mr. Smith's murder on April 21, 2016. On October 20, 2016, he was indicted for two counts of first degree burglary, one count of first degree arson, and one count of third degree arson, all related to Mr. Smith.

Mr. Benton lodged an alibi defense to these charges, contending he was with his friends and family in North Carolina during the commission of each crime. Prior to indicting Mr. Benton, the State served a Mutual Reciprocal Disclosure Request seeking information on his alibi. The request related solely to then-unindicted murder allegations and did not state a time the offense occurred. There is no record of Mr. Benton providing a formal written response to this solitary request.

All of these charges were called for a jury trial before the Honorable Steven H. John on July 17, 2017. The jury was sworn the next day. The State objected during opening statements to Mr. Benton's use of an alibi defense on the ground that Mr. Benton did not provide the response required by Rule 5(e)(1), SCRCrimP, to the State's Mutual Reciprocal Disclosure Request. Mr. Benton opposed the objection, arguing the State did not first provide formal written notice of the time of each offense pursuant to Rule 5(e)(1). The trial court disagreed with Mr. Benton and *sua sponte* declared a mistrial on July 18, 2017. The court thereafter entered a written order declaring a mistrial on July 26, 2017.

The second jury trial of these charges was called before Judge John on December 4, 2017. Prior to the swearing of the second jury, Mr. Benton moved to dismiss the charges on Double Jeopardy grounds because the mistrial was improvidently granted. The trial court reaffirmed its

prior ruling and denied Mr. Benton's motion. During trial, Mr. Benton objected to the admission of any text messages allegedly sent by or to him without a specific foundation that they were, in fact, sent by or to him. Mr. Benton further objected to the introduction of three crime scene photographs under Rule 403, SCRE, as being inflammatory due to their gruesome nature and the fact that Mr. Benton, putting forward an alibi defense, did not contest the facts of the underlying crimes. The trial court overruled these objections and admitted these items into evidence.

The jury convicted Mr. Benton of all counts on December 8, 2017. Mr. Benton filed and served a timely notice of appeal on December 14, 2017.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The basic facts of the underlying crimes were not disputed. Mitchell Cheatham and Garland Rose admitted they broke into C.B. Smith's home in Aynor, South Carolina, on April 18, 2014, armed with a shotgun and while Mr. Smith was home, and stole money. **(R. pp. 450-51)**. Mr. Cheatham and Douglas Thomas admitted to breaking into Mr. Smith's store in Aynor on April 26, 2014, and setting the store on fire after finding no money inside. **(R. p. 71, line 2-p. 75, line 21; p. 452)**. Mr. Cheatham and Mr. Thomas further admitted they returned to Aynor on April 29, 2014, entered Mr. Smith's home while armed once again, ransacked it for money, took what they could find, tied up and handcuffed Mr. Smith, beat him, and set his home on fire with him still bound inside. **(R. p. 80, line 2-p. 86, line 11; pp. 453-457)**. Mr. Smith died in the fire. **(R. p. 162, lines 3-5)**.

There is no physical evidence connecting Mr. Benton to these events. Various family members put Mr. Benton in North Carolina on these dates. Mr. Benton's mother, Christie Hudson, placed Mr. Benton with her and her husband at Mr. Benton's grandmother's house in Leland, North Carolina, until approximately 2:00 a.m. on April 18, arriving home with them in Chadbourn, North Carolina around 3:00 a.m. **(R. p. 299, line 11-p. 301, line 11)**.

Ms. Hudson further recalled Mr. Benton arrived at his grandmother's house in Leland around 10:30 or 11:00 p.m. on April 25 and left for Chadbourn around 3:00 a.m. on April 26. **(R. p. 302, line 17-p. 303, line 5; p. 307, line 22-p. 308, line 6)**. He left his grandmother's sporadically in the interim to run errands with family. **(R. p. 303, line 6-p. 304, line 4; p. 305, line 14-p. 307, line 21)**. Upon returning home to Chadbourn around 4:30 a.m. after getting some food, Mr. Benton and his step-father stayed up playing video games until 7:00 a.m. before leaving for the flea market. **(R. p. 309, lines 3-24)**.

Finally, Ms. Hudson testified Mr. Benton was with her in Chadbourn beginning at 10:00 p.m. on April 28. **(R. p. 310, line 5-p. 311, line 12)**. Shortly before midnight, Mr. Benton and Ms. Hudson went to Mr. Benton's great-grandmother's house in Chadbourn to help fix his great-grandfather's oxygen machine. **(R. p. 311, line 13-p. 314, line 11)**. They left his great-grandmother's house around 1:00 a.m., made one stop, and returned home around 1:40 a.m. **(R. p. 314, line 19-p. 315, line 14)**. Mr. Benton left the house shortly thereafter. **(R. p. 315, lines 15-17)**.

Mr. Benton's step-father, great-grandmother, and uncle's ex-girlfriend all confirmed his whereabouts during these times. **(R. p. 319, line 14-p. 326, line 14)** (testimony of Mr. Benton's step-father); **(R. p. 330, line 24-p. 332, line 25)** (testimony of Mr. Benton's great-grandmother); **(R. p. 335, line 8-p. 338, line 22)** (testimony of Mr. Benton's uncle's ex-girlfriend).

Mr. Cheatham, Mr. Rose, and Mr. Thomas nevertheless implicated Mr. Benton in these crimes. **(R. p. 71, line 2-p. 75, line 21; p. 80, line 2-p. 86, line 11; pp. 450-457)**. But none of them signed a written statement indicating the times when Mr. Benton allegedly committed these acts with them. Mr. Rose's voluntary statement contained no indication as to the time they robbed Mr. Smith's home on April 18. **(R. p. 450)**. Mr. Thomas did not sign a written statement at all. Mr. Cheatham expressly stated he could not recall the time of the April 18 burglary, and he said nothing regarding the time he committed the April 26 and 29 crimes. **(R. pp. 451-457)**.

Investigators interviewed Ms. Hudson and her brother's ex-girlfriend. **(R. p. 317, line 17-p. 318, line 13; p. 339, line 13-p. 340, line 2)**. Mr. Benton's step-father was locked in an interrogation room with Ms. Hudson but not questioned. **(R. p. 328, line 23-p. 329, line 17)**. They asked Ms. Hudson about Mr. Benton's whereabouts at 5:30 a.m. on April 29, the morning of Mr. Smith's murder. **(R. p. 318, lines 8-13)**. Yet their internal records suggest a different time for the

murder. The fire department stated units were dispatched beginning at 2:48 a.m. on April 29 but gave no indication as to when the fire started. **(R. p. 464)**. The Crime Scene Investigator's notes for Mr. Smith's death suggest an "[a]pprox[imate] . . . [t]ime of [i]ncident" of 3:00 a.m. and state the fire department received a call for a structure fire at 2:45 a.m. **(R. pp. 501-02)**. The coroner estimated time of death as 2:30 a.m. **(R. p. 496)**.

Records for the other offenses either were non-existent or even less definitive. Mr. Smith did not call the police following the burglary of his home on April 18. **(R. p. 99, lines 18-19)**. Thus, there are no contemporaneous police or other investigatory records of that incident. The Investigation Report for the April 26 fire at Mr. Smith's store indicates fire services were dispatched beginning at 6:17 a.m. **(R. p. 480)**. It too contains no statement or opinion as to when the fire started. There is no evidence of when Mr. Benton or anyone allegedly broke into the store.

The Horry County Police Department obtained arrest warrants for Mr. Benton on May 2, 2014, but it did not serve them until November 19, 2015. **(R. pp. 357-62)**. Detective James Chatfield attested there was probable cause to believe Mr. Benton committed the April 18 burglary "between the hours of 0300 hours to 0400 hours." **(R. p. 357)**. Detective Chatfield did not state the basis for this probable cause. **(R. p. 357)**. Detective Chatfield made no statement as to time for the April 26 incident. **(R. p. 359)**. He claimed probable cause existed to believe Mr. Benton committed murder and arson on April 29 "at approximately 0230 hours." **(R. p. 361)**.

On April 1, 2016, the state served Mr. Benton with a Mutual Reciprocal Disclosure Request for the still-unindicted murder charge. This is the only Mutual Reciprocal Disclosure Request served by the State on Mr. Benton. The State requested, pursuant to Rule 5(e)(1), SCRCrimP, "written notice of the Defendant's intention to offer an alibi defense as to the charge(s) noted hereinabove which allegedly occurred on or about **APRIL 29, 2014 IN THE AYNOR SECTION**

OF HORRY COUNTY, SC.” (R. p. 510). It does not state the time Mr. Benton allegedly murdered Mr. Smith or reference any other documents that do. Mr. Benton did not provide a formal written response to this request. **(R. p. 40, lines 14-19).** However, Mr. Benton’s trial counsel discussed Mr. Benton’s alibi with the State prior to trial. **(R. p. 38, lines 3-18; p. 39, lines 6-12).**

The State indicted Mr. Benton for murder twenty days later on April 21, 2016. **(R. pp. 363-64).** It did not indict him for the remaining offenses until October 20, 2016. **(R. pp. 365-66)** (first degree burglary on or about April 18, 2014); **(R. pp. 367-68)** (first degree arson); **(R. pp. 369-70)** (third degree arson); **(R. pp. 371-72)** (first degree burglary on or about April 29, 2014). None of the indictments provides the time Mr. Benton allegedly committed these crimes.

First Trial in July 2017

Mr. Benton’s case was called for trial on July 17, 2017. The trial court indicated it was available for two weeks to try the case if necessary. **(R. p. 25, line 19-p. 26, line 23).** The jury was sworn the next day. **(R. p. 29, lines 4-10).**

Mr. Benton’s trial counsel previewed the expected alibi testimony in his opening statement. **(R. p. 35, line 1-p. 37, line 4).** The State objected on the ground that Mr. Benton had not provided notice of his alibi defense as required by Rule 5(e)(1), SCRCrimP, despite the Mutual Reciprocal Disclosure Request. **(R. p. 37, line 22-p. 38, line 2).** The State asked the court only to strike this defense. **(R. p. 37, line 22-p. 38, line 2).** Mr. Benton’s trial counsel explained he was under the impression formal notice had been given, and that he also had conversations with the Solicitor, Lauree Richardson, about Mr. Benton’s alibi and which witnesses supported it. **(R. p. 38, lines 5-**

18; p. 40, lines 14-24). He put it succinctly: “[T]hat’s always been the defense in this case.”¹ (**R. p. 38, line 11**). Another member of Mr. Benton’s trial team explained he too spoke with Ms. Richardson regarding Mr. Benton’s alibi witnesses—including one witness subpoenaed by the State. (**R. p. 39, lines 6-12**). Ms. Richardson was present and did not dispute these assertions. A different Solicitor claimed no discussions took place but confirmed he was aware of at least some witnesses Mr. Benton intended to call. (**R. p. 38, line 20-p. 39, line 1**).

The trial court *sua sponte* declared a mistrial without a record of input from counsel on that decision beforehand. The court believed Rule 5(e)(1) refers to the indictment when it requires a written statement of the time, date, and place of the offense. (**R. p. 41, line 20-p. 42, line 1**). It then incorrectly concluded the indictments and “this Court’s notice” (which was not identified) provided “whatever is required of the state stating the time, date, and place at which the alleged offense occurs.” (**R. p. 43, lines 16-20**); *see also* (**R. pp. 363-72**) (indictments not stating time of offenses).

With Mr. Benton having already conceded he did not send a formal response to the State’s request, the trial court summarily postulated that “the most probable conclusion” of striking Mr. Benton’s alibi would be that the jury “would convict the defendant of all the crimes based upon a less than complete factual presentation.” (**R. p. 42, lines 5-17**). Conversely, the court theorized that not excluding Mr. Benton’s alibi evidence would “deprive the state of a full and complete opportunity to explore these witnesses, to be prepared to answer to the jury as to what they may say, and again would deprive the jury of a full and complete factual determination from which they

¹ At a pre-trial hearing held on March 14, 2017, trial counsel explained he would not contest the manner and fact of Mr. Smith’s death because “[t]he defense in this case is that Mr. Benton didn’t do it, didn’t participate in it.” (**R. p. 11, lines 13-23**). He continued, “If necessary, I intend to make it clear to the jury in the opening statement what I’ve told the Court. We’re not gonna challenge those facts. Those facts are true; those things happened.” (**R. p. 12, lines 18-22**).

need to judge the credibility and believability and make a decision here.” (R. p. 42, line 23-p. 43, line 3).

From this, the court firmly determined it had “no choice but to declare a mistrial in this matter.” (R. p. 43, lines 7-8). The court took no testimony, considered no alternatives other than full exclusion or unconditional admission of Mr. Benton’s alibi witnesses, and requested no input or argument of counsel before doing so. As grounds for “manifest necessity” justifying the mistrial, the court relied on “[t]he harm that it would do the defendant, the harm that it would do to the state,” and its belief “there is no other reasonable conclusion that can be had in the matter because of that.” (R. p. 43, lines 8-13). The court declared “[t]he matter will be rescheduled for a new trial.” (R. p. 43, line 14). It then discharged the jury. (R. p. 46, line 24-p. 48, line 21).

The court held a hearing the following day on the proper interpretation of Rule 5(e)(1). Mr. Benton’s counsel reminded the trial court that the indictments do not state the time Mr. Benton allegedly committed these offenses. (R. p. 50, line 21). He further explained that an affirmative statement from the prosecution is necessary to help prevent prosecution witnesses from molding their testimony to defeat an alibi. (R. p. 51, line 18-p. 52, line 10). The State did not address that concern. Instead, it argued for the first time that notice of time had been given through documents that were not statements of the prosecution and not cited in the alibi request: the arrest warrants, police reports, fire reports, and statements in the State’s Rule 5 and *Brady* material. (R. p. 52, lines 12-22). There is no suggestion or indication these documents were produced contemporaneously with the alibi request.

In response to the State’s new argument, the court reviewed the text of the arrest warrants, noted the fire reports “stat[e] the times and dates that the fire department responded to matters,” referenced the coroner’s report, and referenced “the statements of the codefendants in this

particular matter as to when the events occurred, that being time, date, place.” (R. p. 54, line 21-p. 55, line 5). The court found this disparate set of information not cited in the alibi request sufficient to comply with the State’s obligation under Rule 5(e)(1). (R. p. 55, lines 6-8). It consequently denied Mr. Benton’s request for a more specific statement from the State as to the time of these offenses. (R. p. 56, lines 13-15).

The court thereafter reiterated these conclusions in a written order declaring a mistrial. (R. pp. 4-5). In its order, the court espoused its belief that the State would be deprived of a fair trial even if it “*agree[d]* to waive the Defendant’s requirements of Rule 5(e) and proceed with trial.” (R. p. 5) (emphasis added). There is no record of the State sharing this opinion.

Second Trial in December 2017

Mr. Benton’s second trial commenced on December 4, 2017. Prior to the swearing of this second jury, Mr. Benton moved to dismiss the charges under the Double Jeopardy Clause because there was no justification for the original mistrial. (R. p. 62, line 18-p. 63, line 24). The court “reaffirm[ed] and readopt[ed]” its prior rulings and denied the motion. (R. p. 64, line 8-p. 65, line 23).

The State relied on the testimony of Mr. Thomas and Mr. Cheatham (who were not tried with Mr. Benton) to implicate Mr. Benton in these acts—both of whom are admitted murders, arsonists, and burglars who offered testimony in exchange for sentencing consideration from the State. (R. p. 92, line 11-p. 93, line 12; p. 94, lines 5-15; p. 268, line 17-p. 269, line 20; p. 274, line 18-p. 275, line 5). Mr. Rose died in a car accident prior to trial. (R. p. 97, lines 15-18). Multiple witnesses, including one called by the State, testified Mr. Cheatham is untrustworthy and not to be believed even when under oath. *E.g.*, (R. p. 216, lines 7-15) (testimony of State’s witness Kaitlin Rose); (R. p. 315, line 22-p. 316, line 25) (testimony of Ms. Hudson); (R. p. 333, line 20-

p. 334, line 3) (testimony of character witness Steven Bielinski). Mr. Benton's cell phone was the other primary source of evidence the State used to implicate Mr. Benton, in particular text/internet messages and the location of Mr. Benton's phone during the commission of these crimes.²

Foundational Evidence for Text and Internet Messages

Mr. Benton challenged the admission of *any* text or internet (*e.g.*, Facebook) messages without foundational, authenticating testimony from a witness confirming the author of each message. **(R. p. 27, line 15-p. 28, line 19; p. 144, line 22-p. 145, line 21; p. 164, line 8-p. 165, line 10)**. The court initially agreed the State would lay this foundation. **(R. p. 146, line 15-p. 147, line 4)**. The court then rejected this argument and required only that the State identify which phone the messages came from without any proof of authorship. **(R. p. 147, line 5-p. 148, line 17; p. 158, lines 8-22; p. 166, lines 11-15)**.

The court admitted Mr. Benton's text and internet messages *en masse*. Instead of offering targeted, discreet messages, the State introduced all of the text and internet messages to or from Mr. Benton or Mr. Cheatham in its possession regardless of their connection to this case. As a result, the court received into evidence well over 1,000 messages, less those redacted by agreement of the parties or order of the court.³ **(R. pp. 373-449)**.

² An investigator testified as to which towers Mr. Benton's cell phone "pinged" at various times during the commission of these crimes. **(R. p. 192, line 2-p. 207, line 7)**. Aside from Mr. Cheatham testifying that Mr. Benton left his cell phone in the car during the April 26 events, **(R. p. 270, line 22-p. 273, line 20)**, there is no evidence Mr. Benton had his phone at all during these crimes. As noted below, possession of Mr. Benton's phone was expressly disputed.

³ State's Trial Exhibit 71 is the marrying of information from State's Trial Exhibits 69 and 70, which are documents generated by Verizon containing text message data associated with Mr. Benton's cell phone number, into a summary compilation document. **(R. p. 142, line 11-p., 143, line 25; p. 155, lines 10-19; p. 156, lines 7-12; p. 157, lines 19-23)**. The pertinent information from Exhibits 69 and 70 is duplicated in Exhibit 71. These two exhibits therefore are not necessary for this appeal, as the Court can resolve this issue using only Exhibit 71. Because Exhibits 69 and 70 total 510 pages, Mr. Benton has not designated them to be included within the Record on Appeal in order to conserve resources and avoid an unnecessarily long record. However, Mr. Benton will

The State offered limited foundational testimony for these messages through Mr. Cheatham. He authenticated only three brief exchanges:

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