**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

JUN 12 2019

SC Court of Appeals

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Tommy Lee Benton,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2017-002553

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

JIMMY RICHARDSON  
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit  
Post Office Drawer 1276  
Conway, South Carolina 29526

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

Appellant’s argument fails to consider the totality of the evidence. Appellant concedes that the State presented evidence authenticating three specific text threads – two before the murder and one after. (BOA, p. 33; see also R. p. 256, line 25- p. 262, line 12). This shows a line of communication between two co-conspirators at the relevant time of their concerted action against the victim. *See United States v. Barnes*, 803 F.3d 209, 217 (5th Cir. 2015) (finding authentication sufficient where witness testified she recognized account and manner of speaking noting “Although she was not certain that Hall authored the messages, conclusive proof of authenticity is not required for the admission of disputed evidence.”) (citing *United States v. Jimenez Lopez*, 873 F.2d 769, 772 (5th Cir.1989)).

Further, appellant’s argument that evidence suggested that “others” had control and use of “Benton’s phone on various other occasions,” (BOA pp. 33-34), an argument that appears at one point to be conceded away in a statement that admitted his possession of the phone, (R. p. 342, \_\_\_\_\_ been raised to and ruled upon...”).

lines 18-20, simply misconstrues the testimony. For example, he cites to testimony from Lisa Rose, but her testimony was that she may have sent a message using Benton's phone, but did not take the phone out of his presence. (R. p. 219, lines 5-19). He also cites to testimony from Cheatham, but again, there is a brief handling of a phone, not a taking of a phone. (R. p. 273, lines 9-20). Moreover, there is no mention of the fact that investigators gained possession of the phone from Benton's family, specifically his stepfather Gregory Hudson, who contacted police to turn the phone over. (R. p. 188, line 2 through p. 189, line 5). This is yet another portion of evidence that indicates authentication.

Of particular note is that Cheatham his cellphone, Benton's cellphone, and identified the conversations as conversations he had with Benton. (R. p. 257, line 4 – p. 262, line 6). The cellphone he identified as Benton's was the one Hudson gave to investigators. (R. p. 257, lines 16-18; p. 188, lines 11-19). Further still, the testimony at trial was the Benton used his cellphone for its light function during the crime. (R. p. 249, lines 13-25). Additionally, there were extracted messages from the phone which contained information connecting Benton and Cheatham to the messages, (R. p. 167, line 6 – p. 171, line 11), and specifics of planning and the crime including references to meetings, a 9mm and ammunition, (R. p. 171, line 16 – p. 176, line 17). There were similarly connected information and identifications in regard to messages posted through the phone, (R. p. 177, line 19 – p. 187, line 3), and also testimony clearly establishing the Facebook account name "Tommy Lee Kruspe" was "Tommy Benton," (R. p. 215, lines 21-24). There was sufficient evidence to meet the low authentication standard apart from Cheatham's basic testimony. *See generally Com. v. Koch*, 39 A.3d 996, 1005 (Pa. 2011) (rejecting "mere confirmation of number or address" finding "[c]ircumstantial evidence, which tends to corroborate

the identity of the sender, is required” suggesting error where “No testimony was presented from persons who sent or received the text messages.”).

At any rate, it is without question that Cheatham testified that he was participating in conversations with Benton outside of specific text messages – he testified Benton was part of the murder. (R. p. 239, lines 10- p. 267, line 13; see also p. 77, line 4 – p. 91, line 19). Text exchanges, if entered in error, could only be cumulative and harmless in light of these remaining testimony and that of co-defendant Thomas. *State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445 (2003) (improper evidence harmless where merely cumulative to other evidence); *State v. Evans*, 378 S.C. 296, 299, 662 S.E.2d 489, 491 (Ct. App. 2008) (evidence “merely cumulative, insubstantial” did not affect the result of trial and considered harmless).

Appellant’s argument for relief should be rejected.

### III.

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting limited and probative crime scene photographs that corroborated the details of the crime as the co-defendants testified, and supported malice in the killing, an essential element of the crime of murder.

#### Standard of Review:

“The relevancy, materiality, and admissibility of photographs as evidence are matters left to the sound discretion of the trial court.” *State v. Nance*, 320 S.C. 501, 508, 466 S.E.2d 349, 353 (1996). “If the offered photograph serves to corroborate testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit it.” *Id.* “A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.” *State v. Lyles*, 379 S.C. 328, 338, 665 S.E.2d 201, 207 (Ct.App.2008) (internal quotation marks omitted).

#### Discussion:

Appellant contests three particular photographs, all three showing Mr. Smith as he was left with one particularly showing the handcuff still remaining on his arm. (BOA, p. 14, see also State Exhibits 54, 55 and 56; R. p. 107, line 1 – p. 111, line 11). Appellant essentially argues the photographs were not necessary to prove any fact in contest because the facts of the death were not contested, (BOA, p. 14), though the record supports he did not confess malice on his part, or agree that he was guilty of murder, or agree he participated in any portion of the crimes. Appellant argues that because of his concession the crime occurred as the crime occurred, the photographs were of no probative value. (BOA, p. 38). However, the State was still tasked with carrying its burden proof.

The murder was gruesome. But within that gruesomeness is evidence of the very element of malice the State must prove. “[T]he more essential the evidence, the greater its probative value.”

*State v. Gray*, 408 S.C. 601, 610, 759 S.E.2d 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting *United States v. Stout*, 509 F.3d 796, 804 (6th Cir.2007) (internal quotation marks omitted)).

“To constitute *unfair* prejudice, the photographs must create a ‘tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.’” *State v. Kelley*, 319 S.C. 173, 178, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370-71 (1995) (quoting *State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 377, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991))(emphasis added).“The evaluation of probative value cannot be made in the abstract, but should be made in the practical context of the issues at stake in the trial of each case.” *State v. Gray*, 408 S.C. at 610, 795 S.E.2d at 165. Here, the photographs were used to specifically demonstrate, explain, and corroborate the evidence of how the victim was murdered which, in turn, gave evidence of malice. In discussing similar evidentiary rulings in their cases, the Pennsylvania courts have oft quoted:

A criminal homicide trial is, by its very nature, unpleasant, and the photographic images of the injuries inflicted are merely consonant with the brutality of the subject of inquiry. To permit the disturbing nature of the images of the victim to rule the question of admissibility would result in exclusion of all photographs of the homicide victim, and would defeat one of the essential functions of a criminal trial, inquiry into the intent of the actor. There is no need to so overextend an attempt to sanitize the evidence of the condition of the body as to deprive the Commonwealth of opportunities of proof in support of the onerous burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Further, the condition of the victim’s body provides evidence of the assailant’s intent, and, even where the body’s condition can be described through testimony from a medical examiner, such testimony does not obviate the admissibility of photographs.

*Com. v. Robinson*, 864 A.2d 460, 502 (Pa. 2004) (quoting *Com. v. Rush*, 646 A.2d 557, 560 (Pa. 1994)).

The Georgia courts have concisely rejected an argument on unfair prejudice on the basis of its own paradox: “...a defendant cannot complain about photographs that simply ‘portray the havoc wreaked by [his] own hand.’” *McKibbins v. State*, 750 S.E.2d 314, 322 (Ga. 2013) (quoting

*Null v. State*, 402 S.E.2d 721 (Ga. 1991)). Appellant's malice in the killing is aptly demonstrated by the work of appellant's hands.

Further, the trial judge's charge instructed the level of brutality could be considered in the jury's consideration of the element of malice aforethought: "Malice, that's hatred, ill will, hostility towards another person... an intent to inflict an injury or under circumstances that the law will infer an evil intent ... Malice can be inferred from conduct showing a total disregard for human life." (R. p. 283, line 9 – p. 284, line 3). See *State v. Jones*, 86 S.C. 17, 19-20, 67 S.E. 160, 162 (1910) (approving charge that "[m]alice ... may be implied from brutal conduct on the part of the person committing the crime...."). See also 40 C.J.S. Homicide § 46 (April 2016 Update) ("The fact that cruelty or brutality was manifested in the killing will raise an inference of malice....").

Further still, the photographs corroborated witness testimony on how the scene presented, including handcuffing the victim and the fact he was alive when they set him on fire, and the autopsy findings. (See, for example, R. p. 161, lines 4-15; p. 103, line 13 – p. 106, line 15; p. 247, line 7 – p. 249, line 9; see also R. p. 13, line 5 – p. 22, line 6). Appellant appears to concede the photographs corroborated certain details in witness testimony. (See BOA, p. 15). Consequently, there were discrete and necessary reasons to submit the photographs, namely the corroborative value. *State v. Torres*, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 229 (2010) ("If the offered photograph serves to corroborate testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit it.") (quoting *Nance*, 320 S.C. at 508, 466 S.E.2d at 353); *State v. Martucci*, 380 S.C. 232, 250, 669 S.E.2d 598, 607 (Ct.App. 2008) ("Admitting photographs which serve to corroborate testimony is not an abuse of discretion."). See also *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 76, 502 S.E.2d 63, 76 (1998) (photographs of various bone and bomb fragments and clothing found at crime scene were admissible in murder prosecution to corroborate testimony concerning condition of victim's body as first discovered by

police at crime scene, and location of bone and bomb fragments supported testimony that bomb had been detonated in victim's mouth); *State v. Edwards*, 10 S.E.2d 587, 588 (1940) ("In our opinion the trial Judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the photograph [depicting head, torso, neck wound, decomposition and maggots] as being relevant, nor can we attach any importance, in view of the facts of this case, to the contention that the photograph prejudiced the jury against the defendant. Everything depicted by the photograph was, subsequent to its introduction, testified to in detail by the witnesses."). Though this Court does not make credibility rulings, *see generally State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 6–7, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829–30 (2001) (error for appellate court to re-determine credibility which was an issue for the jury), appellant urges that the co-defendant testimony from Thomas and Cheatham was not worthy of belief. (See generally BOA pp. 5 and 39). The fact that he argues credibility concerns, however, simply underscores the value, indeed heightens the value of definitive evidence supporting the details of the testimony.<sup>5</sup> At any rate, the proper question for determining relevance was whether the photographs had "any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Rule 401, SCRE. "[A] defendant cannot dictate the manner in which the prosecution tries its case by stipulating to certain facts or by not challenging an element of the offense" and "the prosecution's burden to prove every element of the crime is not relieved by a defendant's tactical decision not to contest an essential element of the offense." *See Estelle v. McGuire*, 502 U.S. 62, 69 (1991); *State v. Martucci*, 380 S.C. at 249, 669 S.E.2d at 607 (citing *State v. Johnson*, 338 S.C. 114, 122, 525 S.E.2d 519, 523

---

<sup>5</sup> Appellant makes an unclear assertion the photographs of the body were not merely used to corroborate evidence because the state showed the photograph and asked Cheatham whether the murder was "worth \$1500." (BOA, p. 16). That goes to the shared malice (he responded "Me and Tommy did" killed Smith for money). *Id.* Again, malice is a necessary element of murder that the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt.

(2000)) (“The State has the right to prove every element of the crime charged and is not obligated to rely upon a defendant’s stipulation.”).

Respondent submits the argument the photographs were too gruesome to allow, (see BOA, p. 37), does not rely on the proper test for admissibility. It has long been established that “[a] trial judge is not required to exclude relevant evidence merely because it is unpleasant or offensive.” *Martucci*, 380 S.C. at 250, 669 S.E.2d at 607. *See also Farris v. State*, 328 So.2d 640, 641 (Ala.Crim.App. 1976) (“The colored photograph in question is clearly ghastly; but, gruesomeness is not grounds for excluding this type of evidence, if relevant. ... This photograph was properly admitted into evidence notwithstanding the unpleasant subject matter. We cannot, and should not, gloss over the fact that violent death is itself loathsome.”). Simply, gruesomeness alone does not render the photograph inadmissible. *State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 535–36, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014).

Appellant’s argument that questioning Cheatham on the evidence of their malice only shows the State sought to “inflame the passions of the jury,” (BOA, p. 38), omits the critical consideration of the proof of malice – not simply that the murder occurred, but over a small sum of money which the co-defendant admitted. (See BOA, p. 38; Tr. p. 676, lines 17-21).

Finally, any error in the introduction of these photographs must be viewed as non-prejudicial and harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, since it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *See State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991) (“Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial”); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result”).

At worst, the photographs were cumulative to the other evidence, *i.e.* the testimony on the condition of the body and the crime scene, and, specifically, other photographs of the crime scene showing different portions of the crime scene which were admitted without objection. (R. p.115, lines 6-22). *State v. Robinson*, 201 S.C. 230, 22 S.E.2d 587, 588 -589 (1942) (“The photographs, it is true, were only corroborative of the spoken word, and proved to be unnecessary in this particular case, but they were no more than harmless surplusage. They showed material conditions which existed, and were not inflammable fuel to be consumed by the minds of the jurors, nor do we think that they were calculated to arouse the prejudices of the jury.”). *See also State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445 (2003) (improper evidence harmless where merely cumulative to other evidence); *State v. Evans*, 378 S.C. 296, 299, 662 S.E.2d 489, 491 (Ct. App. 2008) (evidence “merely cumulative, insubstantial” did not affect the result of trial and considered harmless). However, the record supports the basis for the trial judge’s ruling admitting the photographs over objection. His ruling should not be disturbed on appeal.

Appellant’s argument to the contrary should be rejected.

## CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the lower court should be affirmed.